

05/17

**Provincial Division).**  
**Provinsiale Afdeling).**

*Appellant,*

**versus**

*Respondent 5*

Respondent: Hand (23 Sept)

W. H. T. 1/2

Op die rol geplaas vir verhoor op Tuesday, 11<sup>th</sup> Sept, 1956



9:45-12:00 (Eng. Room)  
2:15-3:20

Written argument  
to be lodged by  
21/9/56  
Replied by 28/9/56

Appeal allowed - The order of the Provincial division is set aside and a following order substituted "Ordained in terms of prayers A, B & C of petition."

1, 3, 5, 6, 7.

Reinstated : Tuesday 4<sup>th</sup> Dec<sup>r</sup>, 1956.

Nebraska 1900.

Posta: Hungary, 10<sup>th</sup> Dec. 1940.

First 1338 Right Hon. Secy. of the Navy, Wash. D.C.  
Dear Sir,  
Enclosed, for the interest of the Republic, in  
the question of the further securing of the  
income of the Navy, are a number of suggestions  
submitted to you by the Department of the  
Navy, and a statement of the reasons for  
the same. I have the honor to be, Sir,  
Very respectfully,  
Your obedient servant,  
John D. Long, Secretary of the Navy.

In THE SUPREME COURT OF SOUTH AFRICA. *Record*

(APPELLATE DIVISION)

In the matter between :

JAMES ALEXANDER MACLEAN

Appellant

&

J. D. HAASBROEK N.O.

1st Respondent

FARMERS' ASSISTANCE BOARD

2nd Respondent

MATTHUYS DANIEL NAUDE N.O.

3rd Respondent

CORAM : Centlivres C.J., Hoexter, Steyn, de Beer et  
Reynolds JJ.A.

Heard :- 4th December 1956.

Delivered : 13-12-56

---

J U D G M E N T

CENTLIVRES C.J. :- When the Court gave judgment in this matter on October 1st, 1956, it said that "there will at this stage be no order as to costs in the Provincial Division or in this Court but the appellant or the respondents may on notice to the Registrar on or before October 15th request this Court to hear argument on the question of costs. "

Notice was duly given by both the appellant and the *first and third* respondents that they desired to have the question of costs argued.

In his petition to the Provincial Division the appell-

ant asked for costs of the application to be paid out of the costs of his estate and "no order as to costs against any of the respondents or any of the creditors unless they oppose this application. " The creditors, who were served with a copy of the petition but were not cited as respondents, did not appear in court to oppose the granting of the application. The first respondent, who is a magistrate and who was cited in his capacity as chairman and presiding officer at a meeting of creditors of the appellant, made common cause with the third respondent in opposing the application. The third respondent had been elected trustee under Sec. 16(3) of Act 48 of 1935. He was cited in his capacity as trustee of the appellant's estate. At a meeting of appellant's creditors the following resolution was passed :

" Dat ingeval die aansoek om hersiening mag slaag en dit blyk dat die boedel van die applikant nie aanspreeklik is vir die koste wat aangegaan is tot op datum van beslissing nie, dan sal die krediteure verantwoordelik wees vir die gemelde koste. "

In the Provincial Division as well as in this Court both the first and the third respondents were represented by counsel. On appeal to this Court the first and third respondents were represented by separate counsel. The second respondent,

the Farmers' Assistance Board, took no steps to oppose the application made by the appellant. We were informed by counsel for the first ~~respondent~~ <sup>respondent</sup> that his ~~client~~ <sup>client</sup> had been duly authorised by the State Attorney to contest the proceedings.

Mr. Steyn, who appeared for both the first and third respondents, contended that the first respondent should not be ordered to pay any costs, because it is an accepted principle that when a public officer acts in a judicial or quasi-judicial capacity costs should not be awarded against him. That is no doubt the position when an order for costs is sought against a public officer acting in such a capacity ; he is entitled to resist the order not only on the ground that he acted correctly but also on the ground that, even if he acted incorrectly, he acted in a judicial or quasi-judicial capacity. But where, as in the present case, no costs are sought against him unless he opposes, the position is different. In such a case I can see no reason why, if he opposes unsuccessfully, he should not be ordered to pay the costs occasioned by his opposition unless there are circumstances which entitle the Court in the exercise of its discretion to make no order as to costs. As the first respondent acted in a judicial or quasi-judicial capacity he had no personal interest in the

in the circumstances of this case.  
 result and he should not have taken sides. He should have submitted to the judgment of the Court and he could, if he had wished to do so, have filed his reasons for coming to the decision which was the subject of the attack. If authority is required for the view I have expressed reference may be made to Alexander v Boksburg Municipality (1908 T.S. 413 at p. 419).

Mr. Steyn relied strongly on the case of Paarl African Trust Company Limited v Magistrate, van Rhynsdorp and Others (1941 C.P.D. 78) which was also a case under the Farmers' Assistance ~~Board~~ Act. In that case the Court set aside a certain ruling given by the presiding officer at a meeting of creditors and made no order as to costs. The applicant in that case sought an order for costs against the debtor "and also such other of the respondents who appear to oppose." Costs were not awarded against the debtor because (p. 86) "he was in no way responsible for the ruling and has not appeared to oppose." The magistrate, who had presided at the meeting of creditors, opposed the granting of the application. On p. 86 Howes J. said :-

" As regards the question of costs, it is true that the applicant has been compelled to come to Court to establish his rights which have been infringed. This infringement, however, was caused by what was in my opinion an incorrect ruling <sup>of</sup> ~~by~~ the magistrate, as presiding

" officer, on a difficult point of law. The ordinary rule is that costs are not given against a court appealed from, or the decisions of which are brought under review. Lansdown's Liquor Law (p. 81). See also the remarks of De Villiers C.J. in Klipriver Licensing Board v Ebrahim (1911, A.D. 458 at p. 462). "

The passage referred to by Howes J. in Ebrahim's case appears in the judgment delivered by Lord De Villiers C.J. and is as follows :-

" I am satisfied, however, that in a case like the present where the tribunal from which the appeal comes has acted in a judicial or quasi-judicial capacity, and no question is raised as to the good faith of such tribunal, or as to the legality or regularity of its proceedings, it should not, in case of an appeal to a Superior Court, be subjected to the payment of the costs of such appeal. In the present case the Board acted in a quasi-judicial capacity; there was perfect good faith on its part, and although it may have gone wrong in its interpretation of the law there was no irregularity or illegality in its proceedings. "

The ~~xxx~~ passage which I have cited from Lord De Villier's judgment must be read with what he said on pp. 462 and 463 viz:

" As to the case of Alexander v Boksburg Municipality (1908 T.S. 413), that has no application to the present case. For here the Board did not appear to oppose the appeal" (to the Natal Provincial Division) "It is not necessary to decide what the position would have been if it had appeared ~~in~~ in opposition. "

In my opinion the Court in <sup>the</sup> Paarl Africa Trust case (supra) erred in not awarding costs against the presiding officer.

Another case referred to by Mr. Steyn is Deneysville Estates Limited v. Surveyor-General (1951 (2) S.A. 68). In that case also costs were asked against a public officer if he opposed. He did oppose but notwithstanding this Ogilvie Thompson J. said at p. 82 :-

" While I am not without some sympathy for the applicant who has been obliged - no doubt at considerable expense - to come to Court to vindicate what I have held to be its rights, it seems to me that, having regard to the general current of the decisions and in the light of the specific precedent of the Marais' case, I should exercise my discretion by making no order as to costs . "

The Marais case referred to by Ogilvie Thompson J. is the case of Marais v. Surveyor-General (1930 C.P.D. 291). Ogilvie Thompson J. pointed out at p. 82 of the Deneysville case that the petition in the Marais case contained a prayer for costs. In the Marais case, therefore, the Surveyor-General was entitled to come to Court and oppose the prayer for costs against himself and for the reason I have already given the Court in that case was justified in making no order as to costs. In my view the Court in <sup>the</sup> Deneysville case erred in not awarding costs against the public official.

Mr. Steyn did not contest the liability of the third respondent to pay costs in so far as he represented the appellant's creditors who by resolution authorised him to defend the application made to the Provincial Division but he contended that no order should be made compelling the third respondent to pay costs de bonis propriis. The third respondent was elected as trustee by the appellant's creditors under Sec. 16 of the Farmers' Assistance Board Act and under Sec. 17(2) the provisions of the Insolvency Act apply mutatis mutandis. Sec. 73 of the Insolvency Act (No. 24 of 1936) requires a trustee to obtain the authority of creditors or the Master before he institutes or defends any legal proceedings. In the present case the third respondent duly obtained the authority of the creditors to oppose the application made by the appellant. That opposition was made in what <sup>was</sup> ~~were~~ conceived by the creditors to be in their interests and it cannot be said that the third respondent in carrying out the wishes of the creditors did anything improper. It is true that the third respondent may ~~also~~ be said to have been acting in his own interests also in opposing, for if the application had failed <sup>he</sup> ~~he~~ would have been entitled to remuneration for his work in administering and liquidating the appellant's estate but I do not think that



<sup>alone</sup>  
 that <sup>r</sup>is a ground for ordering him to pay costs de bonis propriis. In view of the resolution of creditors he would have failed in his duty if he had not taken active steps to oppose the application and the mere fact that he was also personally interested in maintaining his position as trustee cannot, in ~~my~~ view, render him liable to pay costs de bonis propriis.

As a result of the order made by this Court on appeal the third respondent is no longer a trustee : the effect of the order is that he has been divested of the assets belonging to the appellant. The third respondent has therefore no tangible assets other than his own out of which costs can be paid. The persons who should pay the costs are the creditors, as they were vitally interested in the result of the proceedings but no order can be made against them in the present proceedings as they were not cited as respondents. If an order as to costs is made against the third respondent in his capacity as a representative of the creditors he may - I do not want to prejudge this - be able to recover them from the creditors. That is a matter which would have to be decided in other proceedings, should the creditors resist a claim by the third respondent to pay the costs incurred by the appellant in the present proceedings.

that is a ground for ordering his removal from the office.

provision. In view of the resolution of creditors he was

never failed in his duty if he had not taken active steps to

to save the liquidation and the more that he was also not

personally interested in maintaining his position as trustee

of trust, in view, however, that he is also a bona fide

provision.

As a result of the order made by this Court on appeal

the liquidator is no longer a trustee in the strict sense of

the order in that he has been divested of the assets belonging

to the estate. The liquidator has accepted the order

and has taken steps to ensure that his own out of pocket costs are

paid. The order is made in the order and the order

is made, as before, with the intention of the order of the

order is made in the order and the order is made in the

order is made in the order and the order is made in the

order is made in the order and the order is made in the

order is made in the order and the order is made in the

order is made in the order and the order is made in the

order is made in the order and the order is made in the

order is made in the order and the order is made in the

order is made in the order and the order is made in the

order is made in the order and the order is made in the

Counsel for the appellant asked that the first and third respondents should be ordered to pay appellant's costs jointly and severally, the one paying the other to be absolved. As those respondents made common cause with one another in opposing the order sought for both in this Court and in the Court a quo I am of opinion that counsel's request should be acceded to. See Minister of Labour and Others v Port Elizabeth Municipality (1952 (2) S.A. 522 at p. 537).

In answer to a question from the <sup>Bench</sup> ~~Board~~ counsel for the appellant stated as regards the costs in the Court a quo that the appellant did not object to paying the costs of an unopposed application and that the respondents should pay the costs occasioned by their opposition.

The result is that the first respondent in his capacity as chairman and presiding officer at the meeting of the appellant's creditors and the third respondent in his capacity as the representative of the appellant's creditors are ordered to pay, jointly and severally, the one paying the other to be absolved, the costs of the appeal, including the costs of the further hearing on the question of costs and such costs as were occasioned in the Orange Free State Provincial Division through their opposition to the appellant's application in that Division.

*Ans. S. 101*

1. Howden JA  
2. Kryn JA  
3. Ben JA  
4. R. 101

— *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 1967, 201: 1033-1034

[illegible][illegible]

U.S. DEPT. OF JUSTICE      FBI      WASHINGTON, D.C. 20535

to produce "the center of the thing", however the object

[illegible]

70 01 1 00 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000

[illegible]

the operation of the automatic control system of the motor, it is not possible to

(P6 In 2, 3, 4, P782 and P783 In 900-1000) 10/10/12

CE 300 - 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023, 2024, 2025, 2026, 2027, 2028, 2029, 2030, 2031, 2032, 2033, 2034, 2035, 2036, 2037, 2038, 2039, 2040, 2041, 2042, 2043, 2044, 2045, 2046, 2047, 2048, 2049, 2050, 2051, 2052, 2053, 2054, 2055, 2056, 2057, 2058, 2059, 2060, 2061, 2062, 2063, 2064, 2065, 2066, 2067, 2068, 2069, 2070, 2071, 2072, 2073, 2074, 2075, 2076, 2077, 2078, 2079, 2080, 2081, 2082, 2083, 2084, 2085, 2086, 2087, 2088, 2089, 2090, 2091, 2092, 2093, 2094, 2095, 2096, 2097, 2098, 2099, 2100, 2101, 2102, 2103, 2104, 2105, 2106, 2107, 2108, 2109, 2110, 2111, 2112, 2113, 2114, 2115, 2116, 2117, 2118, 2119, 2120, 2121, 2122, 2123, 2124, 2125, 2126, 2127, 2128, 2129, 2130, 2131, 2132, 2133, 2134, 2135, 2136, 2137, 2138, 2139, 2140, 2141, 2142, 2143, 2144, 2145, 2146, 2147, 2148, 2149, 2150, 2151, 2152, 2153, 2154, 2155, 2156, 2157, 2158, 2159, 2160, 2161, 2162, 2163, 2164, 2165, 2166, 2167, 2168, 2169, 2170, 2171, 2172, 2173, 2174, 2175, 2176, 2177, 2178, 2179, 2180, 2181, 2182, 2183, 2184, 2185, 2186, 2187, 2188, 2189, 2190, 2191, 2192, 2193, 2194, 2195, 2196, 2197, 2198, 2199, 2200, 2201, 2202, 2203, 2204, 2205, 2206, 2207, 2208, 2209, 2210, 2211, 2212, 2213, 2214, 2215, 2216, 2217, 2218, 2219, 2220, 2221, 2222, 2223, 2224, 2225, 2226, 2227, 2228, 2229, 2230, 2231, 2232, 2233, 2234, 2235, 2236, 2237, 2238, 2239, 2240, 2241, 2242, 2243, 2244, 2245, 2246, 2247, 2248, 2249, 2250, 2251, 2252, 2253, 2254, 2255, 2256, 2257, 2258, 2259, 2260, 2261, 2262, 2263, 2264, 2265, 2266, 2267, 2268, 2269, 2270, 2271, 2272, 2273, 2274, 2275, 2276, 2277, 2278, 2279, 2280, 2281, 2282, 2283, 2284, 2285, 2286, 2287, 2288, 2289, 2290, 2291, 2292, 2293, 2294, 2295, 2296, 2297, 2298, 2299, 2300, 2301, 2302, 2303, 2304, 2305, 2306, 2307, 2308, 2309, 2310, 2311, 2312, 2313, 2314, 2315, 2316, 2317, 2318, 2319, 2320, 2321, 2322, 2323, 2324, 2325, 2326, 2327, 2328, 2329, 2330, 2331, 2332, 2333, 2334, 2335, 2336, 2337, 2338, 2339, 2340, 2341, 2342, 2343, 2344, 2345, 2346, 2347, 2348, 2349, 2350, 2351, 2352, 2353, 2354, 2355, 2356, 2357, 2358, 2359, 2360, 2361, 2362, 2363, 2364, 2365, 2366, 2367, 2368, 2369, 2370, 2371, 2372, 2373, 2374, 2375, 2376, 2377, 2378, 2379, 2380, 2381, 2382, 2383, 2384, 2385, 2386, 2387, 2388, 2389, 2390, 2391, 2392, 2393, 2394, 2395, 2396, 2397, 2398, 2399, 2400, 2401, 2402, 2403, 2404, 2405, 2406, 2407, 2408, 2409, 2410, 2411, 2412, 2413, 2414, 2415, 2416, 2417, 2418, 2419, 2420, 2421, 2422, 2423, 2424, 2425, 2426, 2427, 2428, 2429, 2430, 2431, 2432, 2433, 2434, 2435, 2436, 2437, 2438, 2439, 2440, 2441, 2442, 2443, 2444, 2445, 2446, 2447, 2448, 2449, 2450, 2451, 2452, 2453, 2454, 2455, 2456, 2457, 2458, 2459, 2460, 2461, 2462, 2463, 2464, 2465, 2466, 2467, 2468, 2469, 2470, 2471, 2472, 2473, 2474, 2475, 2476, 2477, 2478, 2479, 2480, 2481, 2482, 2483, 2484, 2485, 2486, 2487, 2488, 2489, 2490, 2491, 2492, 2493, 2494, 2495, 2496, 2497, 2498, 2499, 2500, 2501, 2502, 2503, 2504, 2505, 2506, 2507, 2508, 2509, 2510, 2511, 2512, 2513, 2514, 2515, 2516, 2517, 2518, 2519, 2520, 2521, 2522, 2523, 2524, 2525, 2526, 2527, 2528, 2529, 2530, 2531, 2532, 2533, 2534, 2535, 2536, 2537, 2538, 2539, 2540, 2541, 2542, 2543, 2544, 2545, 2546, 2547, 2548, 2549, 2550, 2551, 2552, 2553, 2554, 2555, 2556, 2557, 2558, 2559, 2560, 2561, 2562, 2563, 2564, 2565, 2566, 2567, 2568, 2569, 2570, 2571, 2572, 2573, 2574, 2575, 2576, 2577, 2578, 2579, 2580, 2581, 2582, 2583, 2584, 2585, 2586, 2587, 2588, 2589, 2590, 2591, 2592, 2593, 2594, 2595, 2596, 2597, 2598, 2599, 2600, 2601, 2602, 2603, 2604, 2605, 2606, 2607, 2608, 2609, 2610, 2611, 2612, 2613, 2614, 2615, 2616, 2617, 2618, 2619, 2620, 2621, 2622, 2623, 2624, 2625, 2626, 2627, 2628, 2629, 2630, 2631, 2632, 2633, 2634, 2635, 2636, 2637, 2638, 2639, 2640, 2641, 2642, 2643, 2644, 2645, 2646, 2647, 2648, 2649, 2650, 2651, 2652, 2653, 2654, 2655, 2656, 2657, 2658, 2659, 2660, 2661, 2662, 2663, 2664, 2665, 2666, 2667, 2668, 2669, 2670, 2671, 2672, 2673, 2674, 2675, 2676, 2677, 2678, 2679, 2680, 2681, 2682, 2683, 2684, 2

ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS UNCLASSIFIED

1992-03-01 00:00:00

the other, and disposed as follows: the center to the center of the

NO STRONG DO F. (C) 1970 BY THE UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT

ATTENTION: INFORMATION: A (1.25 (1) 2.00 275 14 b. 252).

ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS UNCLASSIFIED

the contract and the fact that the contract is a lease agreement.

ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS UNCLASSIFIED

ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS UNCLASSIFIED

TOP SECRET AND CONFIDENTIAL - THE CODE - THIS FILE IS TO BE SPOILED -

THAT, the above-mentioned amount be allowed to the Plaintiff, a costs

SECRET

Record

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF SOUTH AFRICA.

(APPELLATE DIVISION)

In the matter between :

JAMES ALEXANDER MACLEAN

Appellant

&

J. D. HAASBROEK N.O.

1st Respondent

FARMERS' ASSISTANCE BOARD

2nd Respondent

MATTHYS DANIEL NAUDE N.O.

3rd Respondent

CORAM : Centlivres C.J., Hoexter, Steyn, de Beer et  
Reynolds JJ.A.

Heard : 11th Sep. 1956. Delivered : 1- 10 56

---

J U D G M E N T

CENTLIVRES C.J. :- The appellant, who is a farmer as defined in Act 48 of 1935, applied for assistance to the Farmers' Assistance Board established under that Act. At a meeting of creditors convened under Sec. 10 of the Act a duly appointed representative of the Board made the following proposal in terms of Sec. 12(4) of the Act :-

- " (1) To pay secured creditors in full subject to :-  
" (a) Secured creditor S.A.N.T.A.L.  
" (i) All arrear interest to be paid within  
" three months.  
" (ii) Capital amount owing under bond is to  
" be paid in terms of the bond.

- " (b) Secured creditor HYLARD AND DARE - to be  
 " paid in full out of the proceeds of the sale  
 " of the business conducted by applicant known  
 " as the LITTLE CALEDON MILLS on the sale of the  
 " business.
- " (2) Concurrent creditors to receive 20/- in the  
 " pound payable in the manner following :-
- " (i) On the sale of the business known as the  
 " LITTLE CALEDON MILLS the net proceeds of  
 " the sale are to be paid to creditors pro  
 " rata to their claims.
- " (ii) On or before the 1st. March, 1956, an  
 " amount of £1500. 0. 0. is to be paid to  
 " creditors pro rata to their claims.
- " (iii) The balance owing thereafter is to be  
 " paid in three equal instalments, the  
 " first instalment to be paid on or before  
 " the 1st March, 1957, the second instalment  
 " to be paid on or before the 1st. March  
 " 1958, and the third instalment is to be  
 " paid on or before the 1st. March 1959."

After providing that "all amounts which are to be dis-  
 "tributed amongst creditors in terms of this offer are to  
 "be payable to the Secretary of the Ladybrand Co-Op Society,  
 "who is to effect payment of such amounts" the proposal goes  
 on to provide as follows :-

" All amounts belonging to the applicant are to  
 " remain vested in the applicant. The applicant is  
 " to be entitled to dispose of the business known as  
 " the LITTLE CALEDON MILLS carried on by him in Basuto-  
 " land, and the net proceeds of the sale are to be

" paid to the Secretary of the LADYBRAND CO-OP SOCIETY,  
 " who shall pay the proceeds of the sale to creditors  
 " as provided for herein."

The proposal makes provision for the liquidation of the costs and provides that "the applicant is entitled to continue farming operations, ~~provided for herein~~ to dispose of crops to the LADYBRAND CO-OP SOCIETY, and to collect the proceeds of the sale of such crops, save the sum of £1500. 0. 0. which is to be retained by The Secretary of the LADYBRAND CO-OP SOCIETY each year for distribution to creditors as provided for herein."

In conclusion it was stated that on acceptance of the offer of compromise applicant would :-

- " (a) Pass a Second Mortgage Bond over the farm GOSCHEN in favour of the LADYBRAND CO-OP SOCIETY, up to the amount owing by the applicant to concurrent creditors.
- (b) Pass a Notarial Bond hypothecating all his movable assets in favour of the LADYBRAND CO-OP SOCIETY as collateral security for the amount owing to concurrent creditors in terms hereof. "

When the above proposal was made appellant's attorney contended that it was binding on the creditors because all creditors were to be paid in full. He relied on Sec. 12(5) of the Act which provides that "the said proposal shall

"be deemed to have been accepted by all the creditors of the  
 "applicant and shall..... bind them to him, whether  
 "they have or have not proved any claim against the applicant,  
 "unless -

- " (a) the majority of those creditors whose claims are,  
 " in terms of that arrangement not to be paid in  
 " full and whose claims against the applicant  
 " (irrespective of the amount of the claim of any  
 " such creditor) amount, in the aggregate, to more  
 " than half of the aggregate of all claims which are  
 " not to be paid in full ; or  
 " (b) any creditor whose claim against the applicant is  
 " secured by a mortgage, pledge or right of retention  
 " and is, in terms of the said proposal, not to  
 " be paid in full or to an amount equal to the value  
 " which, he placed upon the said security when proving  
 " his claim,  
 " reject or rejects the said proposal. "

The magistrate who presided at the meeting of creditors  
 and is the <sup>first</sup> ~~second~~ respondent in this appeal ruled that the  
 creditors were entitled to discuss and vote on the proposal.  
 The proposal was rejected by creditors whose claims amounted in  
 the aggregate to more than half of the aggregate of all the  
 claims. The appellant's representative intimated that the  
 magistrate's ruling would be tested in the Supreme Court and  
 requested that before the provisions of Sec. 16 of the Act were



time applied, a ~~time~~ should be specified within which appellant should test the matter in the Supreme Court. The magistrate ruled that the business of the meeting must be concluded and that the provisions of Sec. 16 should operate ~~forth~~ forthwith.

The magistrate thereupon asked the appellant in terms of Sec. 16(1) of the Act whether he desired that his estate should be dealt with in terms of that section. The appellant ~~re~~ applied in the affirmative and his creditors in terms of sub-sec. (3) of that section elected a trustee who is the <sup>third</sup> ~~third~~ respondent in ~~this~~ appeal. The second respondent is the 'Farmers' Assistance Board.

The appellant applied to the Orange Free State Provincial Division for an order declaring that :-

- ~~(A)~~ A the magistrate had erred in ruling that the creditors were entitled to vote and reject the proposal ; and ~~that~~
- ~~(B)~~ <sup>he</sup> ~~the magistrate~~ had erred in ruling that by virtue of the rejection of the proposal section 16 of the Act came into operation ;
- ~~(B)~~ B the proposal be deemed to have been accepted by all the creditors in terms of Sec. 12(5) of the Act, and
- ~~(C)~~ <sup>C</sup> the election of the trustee was void.

The Provincial Division dismissed the application with costs and ordered those costs to be paid by the appellant or his estate. Hence the present appeal.

[illegible]

The decision in this appeal turns upon the meaning to be given to the following words in Sec. 12(5)(a) "whose claims are, "in terms of that arrangement, not to be paid in full" „wie se „vorderings ooreenkomstig daardie reëling nie ten volle betaal „sal word nie." The Act was signed by the Governor-General in Afrikaans. The word „ooreenkomstig" is rendered in the English version as "in terms of ". Perhaps a more accurate rendering would be "in accordance with" but I do not think that anything really turns on this. The words "that arrangement" and „daardie reëling" obviously refer to the opening words "the "said proposal" and „voormelde voorstel" respectively. Before attempting to give a meaning to the words in dispute I think that it is desirable to consider the general scheme of the Act.

Under Sec. 5 of the Act a farmer may, in the circumstances therein described, apply to the Farmers' Assistance Board for assistance under the Act. Under Sec. 8 the Board may, on the receipt of an application, assist the applicant "if it is satisfied that by so doing the person to be assisted will be able to "carry on farming operations with a reasonable prospect of success or it may refuse the application without stating any reason "for such refusal." From this section and section 10(1) it would appear that the object of the Act is to keep farmers on the land.



Sec. 10(1) provides that "if the board is of the opinion  
 "that in order to enable an applicant..... to carry on  
 "farming with a reasonable prospect of success, it is desirable  
 "that an arrangement be effected with his creditors whereunder  
 "they relieve him of part of his liabilities or grant him an  
 "extension of time for payment of his liabilities, the board  
 "may..... call a meeting of the applicant and his cred-  
 "itors for the purpose of proving their claims and of consider-  
 "ing any suggestions for such an arrangement as aforesaid."

The words "whereunder they" (i.e. the creditors) ".....  
 "grant him an extension of time" suggest that the creditors  
 must decide whether to grant or refuse an extension of time.  
 But whether they are deemed to have accepted a proposal to  
 grant an extension of time must be determined in accordance  
 with the provisions of Sec. 12(5).

The words at the end of Sec. 10(1) "for the purpose of  
 "..... considering any suggestions for such an arrange-  
 "ment" cannot in my view be construed as permitting any ~~cred-~~<sup>cred-</sup>  
 itors, other than those not to be paid in full, to vote on a  
 proposed arrangement. Those words enable the creditors at  
 a meeting of the applicant and themselves to discuss a proposal  
 put forward by a representative of the board at such a meeting

in terms of Sec. 12(4) and to point out any weaknesses in the proposal. Sec. 12(4) provides that at any meeting of the applicant and creditors "any person appointed by the board for the purpose may, on behalf of the board propose to the creditors "..... any arrangement.....whereunder the applicant is to be "relieved wholly or in part of any of his obligations towards his "creditors or is to be granted an extension of time for the fulfilment of those obligations and <sup>any</sup> ~~any~~ such proposal may at such meeting be altered in such manner as the person so appointed may, within the scope of the authority given to him by the board, deem fit. "

It will be noted that under Sec. 12(4) it is only a representative of the board who can propose an arrangement and that that arrangement cannot be altered unless that representative agrees to the alteration. From this it appears that the creditors in considering a suggestion for an arrangement may in the course of debating the suggested arrangement point out that there are defects in that arrangement and may induce the representative of the board to agree to an alteration of the arrangement. Consequently full effect can be given to the word "considering" at the end of Sec. 10(1) without going to the length of holding that that word imports the right to vote - a right which is

specifically defined in Sec. 12<sup>(5)</sup> and is not dealt with in sec. 10.

Section 19(2) provides that "if the board is for any "reason unable to give effect to a compromise or if..... "the board is of opinion..... that as a result of the "happening of any event after the effecting of the compromise "it is undesirable to give effect to the compromise, the board "may cancel the compromise and the proceedings under this Act "in regard to the applicant shall thereupon fall away. "

Reading the Act as a whole it becomes clear that the Farmers' Assistance Board has overriding authority under the Act : it alone can place before creditors a compromise ; it alone can consent to an alteration of the terms of any compromise so placed before creditors ; it can cancel the compromise.

Returning now to Sec. 12(5), what is the meaning of the words "whose claims are, in terms of that arrangement, not to "be paid in full " ? Clearly we must examine the arrangement in order to ascertain whether any claims are not to be paid in full. There is nothing that I can find in the arrangement in this case to show that any of the claims are not to be paid in full. The arrangement clearly intends that all secured creditors are to be paid in full and that concurrent creditors

are to be paid 20/- in the pound, which is only another way of saying that they are to be paid in full.

I should add that if Sec. 12(5) had been cast in a positive form e.g. if it had provided that all creditors who are to be paid in full in terms of the arrangement shall not have the right to vote and that other creditors should have that right there would be much to be said for the view that what the Legislature intended was that only that class of creditor whose claims would without doubt be paid in full would <sup>not</sup> have the right to vote. For instance an arrangement may provide that certain creditors should be paid in full out of moneys advanced by the board. But in this case the Legislature has used the negative and the language it uses constrains me to ascertain from the arrangement itself whether it contains any provision whereby any creditors are <sup>not</sup> to be paid in full. I may add that if the words employed by Parliament do not carry out its real intention, it is at hand to remedy the defect. To do so is the function of Parliament, not of the Courts. See Wellworths Bazaars Ltd. v Chandlers Ltd (1947 (2) S.A. 37 at p. 45).



The Court a quo followed the case of Bekker v Reichardt N.O. and Others (1956 (1) S.A. 717). In that case the only proposal made by the Farmers' Assistance Board at a meeting of the farmers concerned and his creditors was that all the farmer's creditors should agree to grant him an extension for a period of two years from June 30th, 1954. There was apparently nothing in that proposal to show that any of the creditors were not to be paid in full. The ratio decidendi in that case is to be found on p. 720. The Court relied on Sec. 10(1) "from which it clearly appears that it is the creditors and not the Board who decide whether an extension of time should be granted." I am unable to agree with this view. Sec. 10(1) does not prescribe the voting powers of creditors : those powers are to be found in Sec. 12(5) which in the circumstances therein mentioned "deems" a proposal to have been accepted. There is nothing in the latter section which suggests that the creditors must in fact have accepted the proposal : by a fiction the proposal is deemed to have been accepted unless the proposal is rejected by a majority of those creditors whose claims are in terms of the arrangement not to be paid in full and whose claims against the applicant amount, in the aggregate, to more than half of all claims which are not to be paid in full. On p. 721 in Bekker's case (supra) the Court apparently took the view that if the proposal had provided for

full payment of all the applicant's debts on or before a certain date the creditors would not have been entitled to vote. It apparently held that a proposal to grant an applicant an extension of time within which to pay his debts, with nothing more, was not a proposal to pay the applicant's debts in full. It cannot, however, be said that according to such a proposal creditors are not to be paid in full : in the absence of such a provision the creditors relinquished no part of their claims : they simply agreed to grant an extension of time within which their debts must be paid.

In the present case the Court a quo went further than the Court did in Bekker's case. The learned judge who delivered the judgment of the Court said :

" In my view when the Legislature prescribed that there should be an offer to be paid in full before a creditor was disenfranchised, the Legislature was referring to an unconditional offer to pay the full sum forthwith, or at least without delay or postponement."

The above view would, in my opinion, defeat the object of the Act which is to assist farmers to remain on the land. In the nature of things a farmer approaches the Farmers' Assistance Board for assistance when he is unable to pay creditors in full *on due date*.

There are various ways in which he may be assisted : the board may provide financial assistance under Sec. 9 of the Act, the creditors may forego part of their claims or an extension of time may be granted within which to pay the claims or a combination of all three methods may be adopted. In the present case only the third method has been adopted and not only is there no ~~xxx~~ provision in the arrangement before the Court whereby any creditor is not to be paid in full but there is also express provision that all creditors are to be paid in full. To construe the words "not to be paid in full" as meaning "not to be paid in full forthwith" would defeat the object of granting an extension of time which is to relieve a farmer of the obligation to pay his creditors at once and to enable him to pay his creditors in full at a future date. When a farmer is able to pay all his debts forthwith there is no necessity to grant him an extension of time and in fact he would not approach the board and for assistance/if he did the board would no doubt refuse his application.

In my view a court of law is not entitled to construe Sec. 12(5) as if the word "forthwith" or a similar word appeared after the words "in full". To adapt the language of Tindall J.A. in Moser v Milton (1945 A.D. 517 at p. 525) to the present

if  
case one may say that this Court gave the words "paid in full" the meaning which the Court a quo gave to them, it would not be interpreting but altering the language used and this Court would have to be certain that the result of such an alteration would be to carry out the intention of the lawgiver. See too R. Gaffen & Another (1946 A.D. 1086 at p. 1093). In de Villiers v Cape Law Society (1937 C.P.D. 428) which was quoted with apparent approval by Tindall J.A. in Moser v Milton (supra at p. 525) it was laid down that before a court, in construing a statute, <sup>tampers</sup> ~~transfers~~ with the strict words of the statute by adding to, varying or substituting <sup>Tindall</sup> from such words, it must be certain that any "amendment" it makes in the actual words of the statute expresses the intention of the Legislature ; otherwise it is better to adhere to the strict wording of the statute. And in that case Davis J. said at p. 434 : "This is, in my view, "one of those cases where the Court should find that the law "actually means what it says." See too Steyn's Die Uitleg van Wette at p. 61. This seems to me to be a case where the intention of Parliament is clear : effect must therefore be given to such intention, however great the hardship may be to creditors who have to wait for their money. Cf. Rose's Car Hire (Pty.) Ltd. v Grant (1948 (2) S.A. 466 at p. 471). It should, however, be pointed out that the hardship on creditors must not

be exaggerated because if they were to force their debtor into insolvency, instead of giving him time, they may in the result receive considerably less than they would through the medium of proceedings under the Act. I should also point out that the Act was designed to interfere with the rights of creditors and to prevent them from sequestrating the estate of a farmer in order to enable him to remain on the land.

Reliance was placed by counsel for the respondents on the case of Paarl African Trust Co. Ltd v van Rhynsdorp & Others (1941 C.P.D. 78 at p. 85) where Howes J. said :

" If the words are to be taken as meaning that only those, who, in terms of the proposal, relinquished a portion of their claims are entitled to object, then, when 'the said proposal' is only for an extension of time..... it is deemed to be accepted and no opposition of any sort can be effect<sup>ual</sup>. Such an interpretation would render the whole proceedings nugatory in a proposal of this sort. "

I am not sure what the learned judge meant by "proceedings". If he had in mind the proceedings at the meeting of the applicant and his creditors then I am unable to agree for the reasons I have already given as to the construction to be placed on Sec. 10(1) read with Sec. 12(4) and (5). If he used the word "proceedings" in a wider sense then, again, I am unable to agree

as an extension of time will carry out the main object of the Act viz: to keep the farmer on the land.

It was contended on behalf of the respondents that if the meaning I have assigned to Sec. 12(5) is correct it would lead to the <sup>absurd</sup> ~~absurd~~ result that if an extension of time were granted for an unreasonable period, say 20 years, the creditors would have no remedy and that Sec. 12(5) should be construed in such a way as to <sup>avoid</sup> ~~avoid~~ such a result. There is some force in this contention but I find it impossible to place another meaning on the sub-section without doing violence to the language used by the Legislature. In this connection it must be realised that the Act is administered by the Farmers' Assistance Board and that the Legislature must have regarded it as a responsible body which would not put forward absurd proposals and whose representative at the meeting of the applicant and his creditors would naturally be influenced by the views expressed by the creditors at such a meeting.

A further point remains to be considered. During an argument on costs by Mr. Munnik for the appellant after his leader had completed his reply on the merits, the Court raised the question whether, by reason of the fact that the appellant had, in terms of Sec. 16 of the Act, stated that he desired his estate to be dealt with in terms of the section, he was not perempted from challenging the ruling of the first respondent that the creditors were entitled to vote on the proposal which had been placed before them. I do not think that the appellant is perempted. Peremption is usually raised as a point in limine: there is nothing to show that that point was raised in the Provincial Division and it was not taken in the respondent's heads of argument before this Court nor was it raised in the oral argument until it was mentioned by the Court. Had it been raised before the Provincial Division the appellant would have been entitled to put on record further facts to show that he did not intend to abandon his right to challenge the ruling of the first respondent. In my opinion the defence of peremption cannot be taken at this late stage.

All we have to go on in the present case is the record of the proceedings at the meeting of creditors. At that

meeting the appellant's representative clearly intimated that the first respondent's ruling would be tested in the Supreme Court and requested that, before the provisions of Sec. 16 of the Act were applied, a time should be specified within which the appellant should test the matter in the Supreme Court. This was a reasonable request but the first respondent ruled that the provisions of Sec. 16 must operate forthwith. This ruling obviously placed the appellant in a dilemma. If he replied in the affirmative to the question put to him in terms of sub-sec (1) of Sec. 16 he had the advantage under subsection (5) of not being deemed to be an insolvent but if he had failed to reply in the affirmative all proceedings taken under the Act would in terms of sub-sec. (2) have fallen away : in that event his estate could at any time have been sequestrated and he may then have lost his chance of challenging the ruling of the first respondent. The fact that he chose a course least <sup>detrimental</sup> ~~detrimental~~ to himself cannot, in my opinion, be held against him and does not constitute proof that he took a course which was necessarily inconsistent with his right to challenge the first respondent's ruling.

Peremption must be clearly proved. The case of Hlatshwayo v Lare & Deas (1912 A.D. 242) is very much in point. In that case a defendant, against whom judgment had been given <sup>by</sup> ~~by~~ default,